Detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people

楢崎, 兼司

https://doi.org/10.15017/1470513

出版情報:九州大学,2014,博士(人間環境学),課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係:全文ファイル公表済 Doctoral Thesis

Detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people

Kenji Narazaki

Exercise and Sport Sciences Course

Department of Behavior and Health Sciences

Graduate School of Human-Environment Studies

Kyushu University

2014

Table of contents

Table of contents	2
Summary	4
List of papers	7
Abbreviations	8
Acknowledgement	10
Chapter 1. Background and purpose of the doctoral thesis	12
1. Dementia as a major public health issue	13
2. Preventive strategies against dementia	16
3. Clinical-based detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk	18
3-1. Mild cognitive impairment	18
3-2. Pre-dementia phase of Alzheimer's disease	21
3-3. Present status of clinical-based detection	23
4. Population-based detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk	24
4-1. Cognitive assessment with neuropsychological instruments	25
4-2. Integrative approach with cognitive and health-related assessment	27
4-3. Potential use of lifestyle-related indicators and markers	29
4-4. Present status of population-based detection	32
5. Purpose of the doctoral thesis	33
Chapter 2. Determination of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in	34
community-dwelling older people (Study 1)	
1. Introduction	35
2. Methods	36

Chapter 3. Associations of physical fitness measures with global cognition and	51
5. Conclusion	50
4. Discussion	45
3. Results	40
2-4. Statistical analyses	39
2-3. Procedures	39
2-2. Measurements	38
2-1. Participants	36

pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people

free from	dementia	(Study	2)
-----------	----------	--------	----

1. Introduction	52
2. Methods	53
2-1. Participants	53
2-2. Cognitive function measures	56
2-3. Physical fitness measures	57
2-4. Other measurements	59
2-5. Statistical analyses	60
3. Results	61
4. Discussion	66
5. Conclusion	70
Chapter 4. Overall discussion and conclusion	71
References	75

Summary

Background and purpose

Dementia has been recognized as a major formidable public health challenge in modern aging societies. To facilitate preventive strategies against dementia, there is an emerging need for establishing population-based methods which can be used to detect pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk. Physical fitness measures have recently been found to be lifestyle related factors predicting future incidence of dementia. However, it has been still unclear whether physical fitness measures can serve as markers for detecting concurrent pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. Therefore, this doctoral thesis aimed to examine abilities of physical fitness measures as potential markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. *Study 1: Determination of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-*

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is a neuropsychological instrument developed for screening mild cognitive impairment (MCI), a clinical phenotype of predementia cognitive impairment risk. The MoCA has been validated as a promising MCI screening tool in previous institutional validation studies. In contrast, its scoring characteristics in community-dwelling older people have been not yet fully understood. This study first investigated the scoring characteristics of the MoCA in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia (n=1,848), for determining predementia cognitive impairment risk. The mean MoCA score observed (22.3 points) was lower than that for normal controls (27.4 points) and was indeed close to that for MCI patients (22.1 points) in the original validation study. Furthermore, 81.3% of MoCA scores fell below the standard cut-off of 26 points for detecting MCI. These results suggest that it is not reasonable to use the standard cut-off of the MoCA for detecting MCI as pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in the population. Accordingly, pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk was determined by poor cognitive function, an established late-life risk factor of incident dementia, defined as MoCA scores below mean minus 1.5 times standard deviation for age- and education-match groups.

Study 2: Associations of physical fitness measures with global cognition and predementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people free from dementia

This study was conducted to examine associations of five physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia (n=1,552). Global cognition was

measured by the MoCA and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk was determined by poor cognitive function as shown in the Study 1. Handgrip strength, leg strength, sit-tostand rate, gait speed, and one-leg stand time were examined as physical fitness measures. In multiple linear regression analyses, each of the five physical fitness measures was positively associated with the MoCA score after adjusting for age and sex. These associations were preserved after additional adjustment for years of formal education, body mass index, and other confounding factors. Furthermore, multiple logistic regression analyses demonstrated a significant association between each physical fitness measure and poor cognitive function after adjusting for all of the confounding factors.

Overall discussion and conclusion

The doctoral thesis determined pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in communitydwelling older people (Study 1) and examined associations of five physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk (Study2). The results showed that each of the five physical fitness measures was associated with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people free from dementia. In conclusion, this doctoral thesis suggests that each of the physical fitness measures has a potential as a single marker of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people.

List of papers

This doctoral thesis consists of the following two original research papers:

- Narazaki, K., Nofuji, Y., Honda, T., Matsuo, E., Yonemoto, K. and Kumagai, S. (2013) Normative data for the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in a Japanese communitydwelling older population. *Neuroepidemiology* 40, 23-29.
- Narazaki, K., Matsuo, E., Honda, T., Nofuji, Y., Yonemoto, K. and Kumagai, S. (2014) Physical fitness measures as potential markers of low cognitive function in Japanese community-dwelling older adults without apparent cognitive problems. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine* 13, 590-596.

Abbreviations

3MSE: Modified Mini-Mental State Examination

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

AD: Alzheimer's disease

ADL: activities of daily living

APOE: apolipoprotein E

AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

BMI: body mass index

GDP: gross domestic product

GS: gait speed

HS: handgrip strength

IADL: instrumental activities of daily living

K6: Kessler 6 psychological distress scale

LS: leg strength

MCI: mild cognitive impairment

MCR: Motoric Cognitive Risk

MMSE: Mini-Mental State Examination

MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment

MRI: magnetic resonance imaging

OT: one-leg stand time

PAEE: physical activity energy expenditure

SD: standard deviation

SGS: Sasaguri Genkimon Study

SGS-1: baseline study of the Sasaguri Genkimon Study

SR: sit-to-stand rate

Acknowledgement

This accomplishment would be impossible without the contribution of many exceptional people. Therefore, I would like to express my gratitude as follow:

Baseline participants of the Sasaguri Genkimon Study: your willing participation in the baseline study while holding positive attitudes made me and other research members exceedingly appreciative. There is no doubt that your unstinting cooperation made the study valid and meaningful.

Ms. Kumiko Gunjima and other municipal staff members of Sasaguri town: your extensive support definitely helped us coordinate the baseline study. Without your time and consideration, it was not possible.

Past and present members of the Health and Exercise Epidemiology Laboratory: it has been a piece of good fortune to collaborate with you in this and other research projects. It would be an honor for me to be a part of the team.

Dr. Koji Yonemoto in the Biostatistics Center, Kurume University: your enormous knowledge and experience in biostatistics were indispensable for the completion of the research projects. I would also receive a lot of influence and inspiration from your enthusiasm for biostatistics, epidemiology, and public health research.

Drs. Tetsuro Ogaki, Satoshi Muraki, and Mustafa Atalay: your constructive comments and suggestions were definitely informative and did enhance the quality of this doctoral thesis. I would truly appreciate your cooperation in the dissertation process.

Dr. Shuzo Kumagai: your enduring interest and passion for exercise epidemiology and biochemistry has shined brilliantly into my heart and motivated me in numerous ways. It is immeasurable in how much pride and respect I have for you as my mentor. I would like to make you proud of me in the near future.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to all faculty of the Exercise and Sport Sciences Course, as well as my family members and friends who always be with me. Finally, the two original studies constituting the doctoral thesis were supported by Sasaguri Town, Fukuoka, Japan and two doctoral scholarships by the Graduate School of Human-Environment Studies, Kyushu University to me. Chapter 1

Background and purpose of the doctoral thesis

Chapter 1

Background and purpose of the doctoral thesis

1. Dementia as a major public health issue

Dementia is referred to as a persistent state of serious cognitive, functional and emotional decline from a previously higher level of functioning, which is mostly attributed to neurodegenerative disorders and is highly prevalent among older populations (Apostolova, 2014). A recent report by Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare estimated that the number of Japanese people aged 65 or older suffering from dementia has reached 4.62 million in 2012, accounting for approximately 15 percent of the total older population in Japan (Asada, 2013). Dementia was the second largest cause of longterm care for Japanese older people in 2010 (Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, 2011) (Figure 1).

Although a specific estimation has not yet been reported in Japan, the global economic burden of dementia was estimated as \$604 billion in 2010, which is equivalent to about 1% of world gross domestic product (GDP) or the GDP of a hypothetical country with the world's 18th largest economy (Wimo and Prince, 2011). In addition, a recent simulation study reported that the yearly monetary cost per patient which was attributable to dementia ranged from \$41,689 to \$56,290 in the United States, depending on methods used to value informal care (Hurd et al., 2013). Based on the above reports, it is not unreasonable to perceive that dementia is becoming one of the most burdensome public health issues requiring urgent countermeasures not only in Japan but worldwide. In fact, reflecting the circumstances, the first-ever G8 (Group of Eight) Dementia Summit took place at the end of 2013, and the joint declaration for global cooperative actions against dementia was formally issued (G8 Health Ministers, 2013).



Figure 1. Primary causes of long-term care in Japan.

Note: This figure was drawn based on data in the Comprehensive Survey of Living Conditions 2010 (Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, 2011).

2. Preventive strategies against dementia

To overcome personal, social, and economic burdens brought by dementia, clinicians, researchers, and other field professionals have had a great interest in the establishment of preventive strategies against the disease. One hypothetical estimation by the Alzheimer's Association showed that if new treatment delaying the onset of Alzheimer's disease (AD) by 5 years will be available in 2015, it could result in the reduction of the projected Medicare costs of AD by 45.1% (from \$627 billion to \$344 billion) in 2050 in the United States (Alzheimer's Association, 2010; Sperling et al., 2011). Such estimation may clearly depict potential benefits of establishing the preventive strategies.

Likewise for other pathologies such as heart disease and diabetes mellitus, the preventive strategies of dementia can be classified into three levels: primary, secondary, and tertiary preventions (Gordon, 1983) (Figure 2). Because the latest evidence suggests that the pathophysiological process of dementia starts many years before the clinical diagnosis (Bäckman, 2008; Sperling et al., 2011), and the pathophysiological process is considered irreversible once being started while it can probably be slowed down, earlier detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in the secondary preventive care have been perceived as of the crucial steps to effectively prevent or slow the onset of dementia (Siemers, 2011; Sperling et al., 2011).



Figure 2. Three levels of preventive medicine.

Note: This figure depicts a general conceptual framework of preventive medicine consisting of three levels of prevention (Gordon, 1983), which can be applied for the preventive strategies against dementia.

3. Clinical-based detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk

Given the apparent social need for establishing effective preventive strategies against dementia, various clinical-based attempts have been made to identify individuals at higher risk of dementia before the onset of the disease, and several clinical frameworks have been elaborated for the aim. Among those, mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and the predementia phase of AD are considered two recently well-appreciated frameworks which are described in this section. These are not purely independent each other but the predementia phase of AD partly include the framework of MCI. Other clinical-based concepts which might be relevant but not so commonly used in the present clinical research fields, such as AACD (aging-associated cognitive decline) and CIND (cognitive impairment, no dementia), are not addressed here but discussed elsewhere (Plassman et al., 2008; Stephan et al., 2007).

3-1. Mild cognitive impairment

MCI is defined as an intermediate state between normal cognitive aging and AD or other types of dementia (Petersen et al., 1999). Although it is not always the case, MCI has been reported to often develop into either AD or other forms of dementia, and therefore recognized as a high-risk state for dementia development (Petersen, 2011). The latest clinical criteria for diagnosing MCI consist of the following four items (Petersen et al., 2009; Roberts and Knopman, 2013): (1) cognitive complaints or concerns, (2) objective decline in one or more cognitive domains including memory, executive function, attention, language, and visuospatial abilities, (3) essentially normal functional abilities or activities of daily living (ADL), and (4) absence of dementia. In addition, the latest criteria classify MCI into two phenotypes of amnestic MCI and non-amnestic MCI with two subtypes in each phenotype (Petersen, 2004) (Figure 3). Both the phenotype (amnestic and non-amnestic) and the number of cognitive domains impaired (single and multiple) are presumed to dictate future cognitive outcomes (Petersen, 2004). Specifically, amnestic MCI is presumed to have a high likelihood of progression to AD, while the multiple domain subtype may lead to higher rate of progression than the single domain subtype. In contrast, non-amnestic MCI is presumed to have a high likelihood of progression to non-AD dementias, where the single and multiple domain subtypes may likely progress to frontotemporal dementia and dementia with Lewy bodies, respectively. It is also presumed that both amnestic and non-amnestic MCI phenotypes could develop into the vascular dementia (Petersen, 2004). One study reported that incidence of dementia among MCI patients was approximately 20-40% (10-15% per year) in previous studies and that the incidence among MCI patients was higher than that among cognitively normal subjects in several studies (Roberts and Knopman, 2013).



Figure 3. Current clinical criteria for diagnosing MCI and its subtypes.

Note: This figure was drawn based on Figure 5 of Petersen (2004) with minor modifications. MCI denotes mild cognitive impairment.

3-2. Pre-dementia phase of Alzheimer's disease

In 2010, the US National Institute of Aging and the Alzheimer's Association newly released the framework for the pre-dementia phase of AD (Albert et al., 2011; Jack et al., 2011; McKhann et al., 2011; Sperling et al., 2011). On this framework, the pre-dementia phase is classified into the following two stages: (1) MCI due to AD (as the symptomatic pre-dementia phase of AD) (Albert et al., 2011; Jack et al., 2011) and (2) preclinical AD (Jack et al., 2011; Sperling et al., 2011). These stages were defined based on accumulated research evidence regarding pathophysiological cascade leading to clinical cognitive impairment and subsequent AD. The MCI due to AD is defined mainly for clinical use, based on the aforementioned criteria for MCI with a combination of molecular and topographical biomarkers that are expected to determine the certainty with which a given MCI syndrome is due to AD (Albert et al., 2011). In contrast, the stage of preclinical AD is solely intended for research purposes and do not yield any clinical implications at this point of time (Sperling et al., 2011). This stage is divided into three substages depending on the degrees of asymptomatic (partly symptomatic) preclinical events observed by molecular and topographical biomarkers as well as neuropsychological instruments (Sperling et al., 2011) (Figure 4). Because of its novelty, prevalence, incidence, and clinical outcomes of the respective stages remain to be established at this point.



Figure 4. Graphic demonstration of the proposed framework for preclinical AD.

Note: This figure was drawn based on Figure 5 of Sperling et al., 2011 with minor modifications. In the original figure, it was noted that some individuals will not progress beyond Stage 1 or Stage 2 while individuals in Stage 3 are postulated to be more likely to progress to MCI and dementia due to AD. PET: position emission tomography; CSF: cerebrospinal fluid; A β : amyloid beta; FDG: fluorodeoxyglucose; fMRI: functional magnetic resonance imaging; sMRI: structural magnetic resonance imaging; MCI: mild cognitive impairment; AD: Alzheimer's disease.

3-3. Present status of clinical-based detection

Among the clinical-based frameworks developed for detecting pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk, MCI is probably the most prevailing one at this point, and a number of research findings support its ability to identify higher risk states of dementia (Petersen et al., 2014). However, there remain several issues which may prevent it from being an established diagnostic entity. Particularly, the present MCI definition covers a broad range of cognitive severity determined through the partly ambiguous criteria, which causes this pre-dementia syndrome highly heterogeneous (Stephan et al., 2012). The not negligible variability found in the aforementioned incidence of dementia among MCI patients and other outcomes may reflect the heterogeneity and may implicate the need for developing more objective and standardized criteria which yield consistent and comparable estimates (Roberts and Knopman, 2013). The use of cutting-edge technologies including biomarkers and imaging markers (as used for the MCI due to AD) is expected to improve the objectivity and standardizability of the criteria in the near future.

The framework for the pre-dementia phase of AD, especially the preclinical AD is attractive because of its potential to lead to earlier detection of individuals at higher risk of dementia before the onset of the disease. This framework also make a positive impact to relevant research domains by offering a "common language" to advance scientific knowledge regarding the pre-dementia stages of the disease (Sperling et al., 2011). However, mainly due to its novelty, the concept of the pre-dementia phase of AD is yet to be established as a founded clinical framework.

4. Population-based detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk

As discussed in the last section, clinical-based detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk is advancing and expected to be established in the not-so-distant future. However, even if this will be the case, such clinical approach may not be able to be readily applied to the entire older population due to expense involved and limited accessibility for clinical resources required in the approach. Therefore, in parallel to the need for establishing clinical-based frameworks accurately detecting pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in clinical settings, there exists another need for developing populationbased wide-reaching measures applicable for screening individuals at higher risk of dementia in the entire older population (Stephan et al., 2010).

Given the above need, various population-based attempts have been started with the aim of classifying community-dwelling older individuals into proper risk categories for appropriate decision making in preventive cares against dementia. Many of these attempts have focused on examining cognitive profiles mainly using neuropsychological instruments, while a few attempts have employed more integrative approaches by incorporating health-related factors into cognitive assessment. Moreover, some recent studies have addressed abilities of lifestyle-related factors as late-life indicators or markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. In this section, these kinds of population-based attempts are addressed.

4-1. Cognitive assessment with neuropsychological instruments

The United States Preventive Services Task Force recently reported a thorough systematic review of population-based studies including those investigating the accuracy of brief cognitive screening instruments for detecting current dementia and MCI in community-dwelling primary care-relevant populations (Lin et al., 2013a; Lin et al., 2013b). Among 1,190 papers reviewed, they identified 27 fair- to good-quality studies that evaluated the diagnostic accuracy of 22 cognitive screening instruments for detecting MCI in primary care-relevant populations. According to the report, only six of these instruments, the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975), Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (Jorm and Jacomb, 1989), Clock Drawing Test (Agrell and Dehljn, 1998), Mini-Cog (Borson et al., 2000), Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status (Brandt, et al., 1988), and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005), were found to be examined in more than

one study (Ayalon et al., 2011; Borson et al., 2006; Callahan et al., 2002; Cook et al., 2009; Cruz-Orduña et al., 2012; Cullen et al., 2005; Donnelly et al., 2008; Ehreke et al., 2011; Ehreke et al., 2009; Holsinger et al., 2012; Jeong et al., 2004; Jorm et al., 1996; Kaufer et al., 2008; Lam et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2008a; Lee et al., 2008b; Li et al., 2006; Manly et al., 2011; Markwick et al., 2012; McDowell et al., 1997; Rideaux et al., 2012; Saxton et al., 2009; Scharre et al., 2010; Tariq et al., 2006; Tokuhara et al., 2006; Vercambre et al., 2010). Furthermore, on average, the diagnostic accuracy (e.g., sensitivity, specificity, and/or area under the receiver operating characteristic curve or AUC) for detecting MCI with these cognitive instruments was found to be lower than that for detecting dementia using these and other instruments (Lin et al., 2013a; Lin et al., 2013b).

Another systematic review also discussed the predictive accuracy of population-based cognitive screening models for future incidence of dementia (Stephan et al., 2010). As a part of the review, they identified seven screening models comprising single or multiple neuropsychological instruments which showed relatively good predictive accuracies for incident dementia in various follow-up periods (Jorm et al., 2005; Jungwirth et al., 2009b; Masur et al., 1994; Nakata et al., 2009; Nielsen et al., 1999; Rapp et al., 2005; Tierney et al., 2005). These models appear to be promising, but the authors noted that few studies

have performed rigorous statistical testing for validation, calibration, or sensitivity analysis, and none of the models have not been validated externally (Stephan et al., 2010).

Given the above results and the fact that most of the above studies were published during the past 10 years (Lin et al., 2013a), it is presumed that the population-based use of cognitive instruments and models for detecting pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk (e.g., current MCI and risk of incident dementia) is moving forward but still in the early development stage. Accordingly, standard procedures for the detection are yet to be established.

4-2. Integrative approach with cognitive and health-related assessment

The aforementioned review also identified two recent studies which proposed integrative models for detecting future dementia risk by incorporating health-related factors into cognitive assessment (Stephan et al., 2010). One research from the Cardiovascular Health Cognition Study devised a composite index named the Late-Life Dementia Risk Index (Barnes et al., 2009). This index was calculated from scores for multiple factors including age, cognitive performance measured by the Modified Mini-Mental State Examination (3MSE) and the Digit Symbol Substitution Test, body mass index (BMI), apolipoprotein E (APOE) ɛ4 allele status, cerebral magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings of white matter disease or ventricular enlargement, ultrasound findings of internal carotid artery thickening, history of bypass surgery, fine motor performance (time to put on and button shirt), and alcohol consumption (range of index score: 0-15 points). Their validation analysis found high predictive accuracy of the Late-Life Dementia Risk Index for incident dementia within 6 years in community-dwelling older people with a mean age of 75 years at baseline (c statistic of 0.81). In addition, 56% of subjects with high scores of the index (8 points or higher) developed dementia over 6 years, while 23% of those with moderate scores (4-7 points) and only 4% of those with low scores (3 points or lower) (Barnes et al., 2009).

Another research from the Vienna Transdanube Aging Study also examined the predictive accuracy of multiple regression models with various sociodemographic and health-related factors for future incidence of probable dementia (Jungwirth et al., 2009a). The best multiple regression model combined measures of cognitive performance, verbal memory measured by the Word List-Delayed Recall Test and visual motor speed by the Trail Making Test A, with subjective memory complaints and the APOE ε 4 allele status. The best model demonstrated high predictive accuracy for incidence of probable AD within 5 years in older people aged 75 years at baseline (sensitivity: 82.8%, specificity: 98.7%, AUC: 0.91).

Despite the limited number of studies with no external validation at this point, these

findings demonstrated relatively good predictive value of the integrative models for future incidence of AD and dementia. However, some of the health-related factors used in the integrative models are laboratory-based (e.g., the APOE ɛ4 allele, cerebral MRI, and ultrasound), and thus may not be the best fit for the aim of detecting individuals at higher risk of dementia in the entire older population. Although incorporation of noncognitive risk factors and markers of cognitive impairment into detection models is expected to increase prediction accuracy by adding unique variance (Bäckman, 2008), feasibility and cost-effectiveness of gathering data for the factors/markers in populationbased settings should also be taken into account to achieve the original aim (Stephan et al., 2010). From this standpoint, it can be worth examining potential abilities of lifestylerelated factors as late-life indicators or markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk because these factors can be feasibly assessed in population-based settings.

4-3. Potential use of lifestyle-related indicators and markers

In addition to age (Jorm and Jolley, 1998), race (Tang et al., 2001), heredity (Corder et al., 1993) and other sociodemographic factors, types of lifestyle-related factors have been found to be associated with future incidence of dementia over the past decades (Barnes and Yaffe, 2009; Solfrizzi et al., 2008). Reported lifestyle-related factors include formal education (Stern et al., 1994), physical (Lindsay et al., 2002), cognitive (Wilson et al.,

2002), and social activities (Fratiglioni et al., 2000), depressive status (Jorm, 2001), diet (Luchsinger et al., 2007), smoking (Anstey et al., 2007), and alcohol consumption (Mukamal et al., 2003). Some of these factors, such as age and formal education, are established as determinants of cognitive function in community-dwelling older people and often used as late-life indicators of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk (Crum et al., 1993). In contrast, most of the other lifestyle-related factors have not been well founded yet, and thus, no clear consensus has been reached on their abilities as late-life markers of pre-dementia cognitive factors, including those regarding the timing of exposure and methods for measurements. Also, most previous studies have relied on questionnaire-based subjective data with some exceptions, which may limit comparison and integration of findings across studies and may cause the lack of consensus.

Besides previous reports regarding the above lifestyle-related factors, there have been increasing reports showing associations of objective physical fitness measures with cognitive decline and dementia risk (Buchman and Bennett, 2011; Clouston et al., 2013). In eight of these reports, physical fitness measured in late life, including handgrip strength, gait (timed walk), balance (one-leg stand), chair stand, composite muscle strength, and composite physical fitness, have been found to be associated with future incidence of

clinical events including MCI, AD, and dementia in community-dwelling older people (Aggarwal et al., 2006; Boyle et al., 2009; Buchman et al, 2011; Buchman et al., 2007; Sattler et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2006; Wilkins et al., 2013; Yamada et al., 2009). Furthermore, one recent study proposed a novel type of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk so-called Motoric Cognitive Risk (MCR) by replacing objective cognitive decline in the clinical MCI criteria (see 3-1. Mild cognitive impairment) to slow gait relative to age- and sex-matched peers (Verghese et al., 2013). The authors found that community-dwelling older people having MCR at baseline were at higher risk of developing dementia and vascular dementia than cognitively intact counterparts. This study also suggested that MCR predicts future incidence of vascular dementia better than MCI. Despite the lack of validation of the observed associations in various populations and no clear evaluation of predictive accuracy at this time, the findings from these prospective studies may offer promise for physical fitness measures as potential late-life markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk. In contrast, it has not been well documented whether physical fitness measures can serve as concurrent markers of predementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. To our knowledge, there exists only two studies suggesting a role of gait speed as a marker of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk by demonstrating its association with global

cognition in cognitively intact older people (Fitzpatrick et al., 2007; Mielke et al., 2013).

4-4. Present status of population-based detection

Population-based detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk has emerged as an important public health challenge. Reflecting the demand for establishing practical methods to detect individuals at higher risk of dementia in the entire older population (Stephan et al., 2010), a fair number of attempts using neuropsychological instruments and cognitive models have been started mostly in Western countries over the last decade or two. Along with these attempts, recent studies have also addressed abilities of lifestylerelated factors as late-life indicators or markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. Of these factors, increasing reports have found baseline physical fitness measures to be associated with incident dementia and cognitive impairment. Because they can be simply and objectively examined in population-based settings without requiring any clinical resources, physical fitness measures may have potentials as feasible late-life markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk. However, it has been still unclear whether physical fitness measures can serve as markers of concurrent pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people.

5. Purpose of the doctoral thesis

As discussed in the last section, it has been unclear whether physical fitness measures can serve as markers for detecting concurrent pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. Therefore, the purpose of this doctoral thesis was to examine abilities of physical fitness measures as potential markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people.

To address the purpose of the doctoral thesis, two original studies were conducted. The first study aimed to determine pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people (Chapter 2). The second study then aimed to examine associations of physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people free from dementia (Chapter 3). Accordingly, overall discussion and conclusion were made in Chapter 4.

Chapter 2

Determination of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-

dwelling older people (Study 1)

Chapter 2

Determination of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in communitydwelling older people (Study 1)

1. Introduction

MCI represents an intermediate clinical state between normal cognitive aging and AD or other types of dementia (Petersen et al., 1999). Although it is not always the case, MCI has been reported to often develop into AD or other forms of dementia, and therefore recognized as a high-risk state for dementia development (Petersen, 2011) or a clinical phenotype of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk. In recent discussions, community-based screening of MCI is considered as one of the crucial steps to enable wide-reaching interventions for preventing or slowing the onset of dementia (Stephan et al., 2010).

The MoCA is a brief neuropsychological tool designed for screening MCI (Nasreddine et al., 2005) and is acknowledged as a promising instrument worldwide (Fujiwara et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2008a; Rahman and El Gaafary, 2009). Given the need for ethnic specific versions of neuropsychological tests (Escobar et al., 1986; Mungas et al., 1996), 63 versions of the MoCA are currently developed in 38 languages (www.mocatest.org). The MoCA has also been reported to have higher sensitivity to a subtle cognitive decline than
conventional tools such as the MMSE (Dong et al., 2010; Nasreddine et al., 2005; Pendlebury et al., 2010).

To date, two cohort studies reported scoring characteristics of the MoCA in populationbased samples including a multiethnic United States population (Rossetti et al., 2011) and a Portuguese population (Freitas et al., 2011). Both studies, however, were conducted with subjects in a wide age range, and thus the sample sizes were scarce for the older age ranges. Accordingly, the ability of the MoCA as a MCI screening tool in communitydwelling older people has not yet been clearly validated. Such validation may be urgent especially for Japanese society undergoing the world's fastest aging with the highest life expectancy. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to investigate scoring characteristics of the MoCA in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia for examining whether the MoCA can be used for detecting MCI (as predementia cognitive impairment risk) in the population.

2. Methods

2-1. Participants

The present study involved analysis of data from the baseline phase of the Sasaguri Genkimon Study (SGS) conducted from May to August 2011. The SGS is an ongoing

community-based prospective cohort study in a Japanese local town, Sasaguri Town, aiming to explore modifiable lifestyle factors causing older people to require long-term care. Subjects of the baseline study of the SGS (SGS-1) were all residents of the town who were aged 65 years or older and not certified as individuals requiring long-term care by the town in January 2011 (n=4,979). Sixty-six subjects were excluded due to being dead or moving out by the onset of the study. A set of study information sheets and a questionnaire was mailed to all remaining subjects (n=4,913) and 2,629 individuals, hereafter referred to as the participants of the SGS-1, responded to the mail by visiting a community center to submit the questionnaire and undergo multiple physical and cognitive tests in one of 31 group-testing sessions of the SGS-1, contacting study coordinators to set an appointment for an individual home-testing session, or visiting the city office to submit the questionnaire (recruitment rate: 53.5%). Of these, 2,129 individuals took part in MoCA tests. After the testing, we excluded 32 individuals unable to complete the MoCA properly and 12 individuals with missing information about their years of formal education. Furthermore, of the remaining individuals with complete data required for evaluating MoCA scores (n=2,085), we excluded 108 individuals with selfreported medical histories of stroke, depression, Parkinson's disease, and dementia, and 129 individuals with signs of apparent cognitive problems determined by a MMSE score of <24. Accordingly, data from 1,848 participants (70.3% of the total participants of the SGS-1) were involved in the present study.

All the participants provided written informed consent to participate in the present study. The study protocol and the informed consent form were approved by the Institutional Review Board of Institute of Health Science, Kyushu University.

2-2. Measurements

We used the Japanese version of the MoCA for all measurements. The details of the Japanese version are described elsewhere (Fujiwara et al., 2010). Briefly, it was developed and validated by investigators including the inventor of the original MoCA (Dr. Nasreddine). As the original one (Nasreddine et al., 2005), the Japanese version of the MoCA was designed as a 30-point screening instrument administered in about 10 minutes and consists of the following 12 cognitive tasks: a five-item delayed recall task (5 points), a clock-drawing task (3 points), a cube-copying task (1 point), a trail-making task (1 point), a phonemic fluency task (1 point), a two-item verbal abstraction task (2 point), a target-tapping task (1 point), a serial subtraction task (3 points), a two-item digits-reading task (2 points), a three-item naming task (3 points), a two-item sentence-repeating task (2 points), and a six-item temporal and locational orientation task (6 points). In the standard procedure of the original as well as the Japanese versions, 1 point is added to the total

score of the cognitive tasks if an individual has 12 years or fewer of formal education and the final total score falling below 26 points is judged to have probable MCI. In addition to the MoCA, we used the Japanese version of the MMSE to screen apparent cognitive problems with the cut-off score of <24, as explained in the above section. This MMSE cut-off score has been widely used to detect abnormal cognitive status and to screen dementia in previous studies (Holsinger et al., 2007).

2-3. Procedures

All MoCA and MMSE tests were administered to the participants by trained personnel as part of the group-testing and home-testing sessions of the SGS-1. After the testing, MoCA scores were independently evaluated by two evaluators and double-checked between the two before finally determined. The inter-evaluator reliability shown as a percentage of agreement in MoCA scores was 93.3% in the initial evaluation. To demonstrate scoring characteristics in participants with the wide range of years of formal education, the preferred 1-point correction for education was not adopted.

2-4. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). To confirm influence of exclusion due to non-response, refusal of participation, refusal of MoCA tests, or incompletion on data required for evaluating MoCA scores, the

Wilcoxon rank-sum test and the chi-square test were conducted for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. Descriptive statistics were calculated for total MoCA scores and for scores of respective cognitive tasks. A multiple regression analysis was performed with the MoCA score as a dependent variable and age, sex, and years of formal education as independent variables. Additionally, to visualize changes in MoCA scores, simple regression analyses were conducted between the MoCA score and age in three education levels (≤ 9 , 10-12, and ≥ 13 years of formal education). Furthermore, normative data for MoCA scores in the community-dwelling older people were developed with respect to four age levels (65-69, 70-74, 75-79, and ≥ 80 years old) and the three education levels aforementioned. Significance level was set at two-sided $\alpha=0.05$.

3. Results

Individuals excluded due to non-response, refusal of participation, refusal of MoCA tests, or incompletion on data required for evaluating MoCA scores were not different from the remaining individuals with complete data in terms of age (median: 72 vs 73 years, interquartile range: 68-78 years for both groups, p=.611), sex (percentage for men: 44.7% vs. 42.1%, p=.071), and years of formal education (median: 12 years for both groups, interquartile range: 9-12 years for both groups, p=.221). The mean age and years

of formal education of the present participants were 73.2 years (standard deviation or SD: 5.9, median: 72, range, 65-93) and 11.2 years (SD: 2.5, median: 12, range, 2-23), respectively, with 41.3% of those being men (n=764). The mean MoCA score was 22.3 points (SD: 3.4, median: 23, range, 10-30), with 81.3% of scores falling below the preferred cut-off of 26 points for probable MCI. Histograms for scores of respective cognitive tasks were summarized in Figure 5.

In the multiple regression analysis, significant associations with the MoCA score were found for age (regression coefficient, -0.17; 95% confidence interval or 95% CI, -0.19 to -0.14; p<.001) and education (regression coefficient, 0.35; 95% CI, 0.29 to 0.41; p<.001) but not for sex (regression coefficient, 0.13; 95% CI, -0.16 to 0.43; p=.367). Figure 6 demonstrates the results of the simple regression analyses showing significant associations between the MoCA score and age in all the three education levels (p<.001). Specifically, higher age was associated with lower MoCA scores in all the education levels. Finally, normative data for the MoCA specific to the community-dwelling older people were determined with respect to the four age categories and three education levels (Table 1).



Figure 5. Histograms of scores for respective cognitive tasks in MoCA.

Note: Each panel shows a histogram for one of the 12 cognitive tasks in the MoCA. Horizontal and longitudinal axes of each panel indicate points scored and frequency count for each point, respectively. MoCA denotes Montreal Cognitive Assessment.



Figure 6. Regression lines between age and MoCA score in three education levels.

Note: Intercepts (at 65 years) and slopes for respective regression lines are as follows: 24.90 and -0.17 in 13 \leq EDU; 24.27 and -0.20 in 10 \leq EDU \leq 12; 22.54 and -0.17 in EDU \leq 9. MoCA and EDU denote Montreal Cognitive Assessment and years of formal education, respectively.

Age	E			
(years)	≤9	10-12	≥13	Total by age
65-69	139	346	133	618
	22.1 (3.4)	23.9 (2.8)	24.6 (2.8)	23.7 (3.1)
	23 (10-28)	24 (14-30)	25 (14-30)	24 (10-30)
70-74	167	263	94	524
	21.6 (3.3)	22.7 (3.0)	23.8 (2.8)	22.6 (3.1)
	22 (14-29)	23 (15-30)	24 (17-29)	23 (14-30)
75-79	176	168	54	398
	20.2 (3.5)	21.8 (3.4)	22.5 (3.0)	21.2 (3.5)
	20 (12-28)	22 (14-29)	22 (16-28)	21 (12-29)
≥ 80	121	153	34	308
	19.7 (3.0)	21.0 (3.2)	22.3 (3.9)	20.6 (3.3)
	20 (14-28)	21 (13-29)	23 (12-29)	20 (12-29)
Total by	603	930	315	1,848
education	20.9 (3.5)	22.7 (3.2)	23.7 (3.1)	22.3 (3.4)
	21 (10-29)	23 (13-30)	24 (12-30)	23 (10-30)

Table 1. Normative data for MoCA scores.

Note: Data are expressed as number, mean (SD), and median (range). MoCA and SD denote Montreal Cognitive Assessment and standard deviation, respectively.

4. Discussion

Population-based screening for MCI is recognized as a key step to establish sound wide-reaching intervention programs for preventing or delaying older people from developing dementia (Stephan et al., 2010). Despite its promise, the ability of the MoCA as a MCI screening tool in community-dwelling older people has not yet been clearly validated. The purpose of the present study was to investigate scoring characteristics of the MoCA in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia for examining whether the MoCA can be used for detecting MCI (as pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk) in the population.

The mean MoCA score of 22.3 points observed in the present study was lower than that for the normal controls (n=90, 27.4 points, SD 2.2) and was indeed close to that for the patients with MCI (n=94, 22.1 points, SD 3.1) in the original normative study performed by the development group of the MoCA (Nasreddine et al., 2005). These trends were unchanged even after the preferred 1-point correction of MoCA scores for formal education (mean 23.1 points; SD 3.4). Furthermore, approximately three-fourths or more of the scores (81.3% without the correction or 73.4% with the correction) fell below the preferred cut-off of 26 points for detecting MCI while the reported prevalence of MCI for older populations ranges from 15 to below 30% (Busse et al., 2006; Di Carlo et al., 2007;

Lopez et al., 2003; Manly et al., 2005; Manly et al., 2008). The present percentage is still high even considering potential inclusion of patients with undiagnosed dementia.

Because multiple population-based studies have also observed MoCA scores comparable to the present one (Freitas et al., 2011; Luis et al., 2009; Rossetti et al., 2011), this discrepancy may not be attributed to some administrative issues in the present study but to low external validity of the cut-off score due to the limited number of samples and/or possible selection bias for the non-population-based samples in the original study (Nasreddine et al., 2005). Other possible causes of the discrepancy are some cultural and linguistic artifacts occurring in the translation process of the original MoCA into the Japanese one (Bravo and Hebert, 1997; Escobar et al., 1986). Although the cross-cultural and cross-linguistic adaptations appear to be taken into account during the development process of the Japanese version (Fujiwara et al., 2010), the validity of the adaptations was examined with limited number of clinical-based subjects, and therefore, possibility of cultural and linguistic artifacts in population-based use cannot be ruled out.

As observed in previous population-based studies with subjects in a wide age range (Freitas et al., 2011; Rossetti et al., 2011), the present results have shown significant associations of age and education with the MoCA score in older samples. Specifically, MoCA scores were lower in participants with higher age and/or fewer years of formal education. In contrast, no association was found between sex and the MoCA score. The effects of age and education have been well documented for neuropsychological tests in population-based studies and been taken into account with age- and education-specific norms when obtained scores are evaluated (Bravo and Hebert, 1997; Crum et al., 1993). Because both age and education are now recognized as risk factors of cognitive decline (Daviglus et al., 2011; Nithianantharajah and Hannan, 2009) rather than just biasing factors of the tests, it can be misleading and problematic to count the effects by correcting an obtained score for these variables and evaluate the corrected score using a single cut-off (Crum et al., 1993; Holsinger et al., 2007). In the light of this discussion, the current MoCA procedure comprising a 1-point correction for 12 or fewer years of formal education and subsequent evaluation with a single cut-off of 26 points may not be the best for screening MCI in population-based samples.

Taken together, it is considered reasonable to assume that the current MoCA procedure is somewhat premature for MCI screening in community-dwelling older people. However, because we did not employ a clinical diagnosis of MCI in the research design, the present study is unable to further propose any alternative cut-off and/or criteria for populationbased MCI screening. Instead, we presented the age- and education-stratified normative data for MoCA scores in a Japanese community-dwelling older population free from dementia, which may be able to allow clinicians and researchers to detect individuals with poor or abnormal cognitive function from the community-dwelling older samples while taking into account the influence of age and education. For example, if a 77-year-old patient with 9 years of formal education scored 14 points on the MoCA test, his or her personal physician can appreciate that the score was lower than the mean minus 1.5xSD (i.e., 20.2-1.5x3.5=15.0) for the age- and education-matched group free from dementia and can suspect that the patient may undergo pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk. Similarly, the normative data may be useful for the professionals when monitoring subtle cognitive change within a patient in longitudinal observations. Because late-life poor cognitive function is recognized as an established risk factor of incident dementia (Saxton et al., 2004; Tierney et al., 2005), this approach can be considered plausible.

Consistent with the present purpose, we excluded individuals self-reporting medical history of diseases contributing to or reflecting the development of clinical cognitive decline (Bhalla et al., 2009; Dalrymple-Alford et al., 2010; Dong et al., 2010; Petersen, 2011), as well as individuals with MMSE scores of <24 (Holsinger et al., 2007). There exists an argument that normative values should be representative and thus be developed from samples including both cognitively normal and abnormal individuals (Crum et al., 1993). However, the present exclusion may be conducive to enhancing the sensitivity of

detecting pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk with the present normative data by comparing a patient's score to that of a reference group free from dementia (Bravo and Hebert, 1997). Furthermore, the relatively wide range of the MoCA score observed (i.e., 10-30 points) with its significant associations with age and education may indicate the utility of the MoCA as a reasonable scale of cognitive function in community-dwelling older people free from dementia.

Our report has some limitations which are worth noting here. First, the sample of the present study may be affected to some extent by exclusion due to non-response, refusal of participation, refusal of MoCA tests, or incompletion on data required for evaluating MoCA scores. However, the influence is considered not sizable based on no significant differences in age, sex, and education observed between the excluded individuals and the remaining individuals with complete data. Second, because the present study was performed in the single Japanese town, generalizability of the results is somewhat limited. Yet, the present normative data can be considered applicable to other places in Japan because ethnicity and educational system have been almost homogeneous across Japan. Finally, in the normative data, some strata were formed with relatively small numbers of samples, and thus, probably less reliable in terms of age-education relationships.

Associations of MoCA scores with other sociodemographic factors, such as ethnicity,

culture, language, financial security, and family configuration, remain to be explored by future investigations in order to generalize the findings of this research. Obtaining these types of research findings might be essential before establishing the cut-off for population-based MCI screening. In parallel with exploring the future use of the MoCA as a population-based MCI screening tool, we are going to follow the present participants in prospective observations of the SGS to determine the ability of the test to predict future onset of dementia in the community-dwelling older population.

5. Conclusion

To our knowledge, the present study was the first to demonstrate scoring characteristics of the MoCA specific to community-dwelling older people not only in Japanese society but worldwide. This study suggests that the current MoCA procedure is somewhat premature for community-based MCI screening, while proposing alternative use of the present normative data for detecting pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. According to the findings, we determined predementia cognitive impairment risk by defining poor cognitive function as MoCA scores below mean minus 1.5xSD for age- and education-match groups. Chapter 3

Associations of physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people free from dementia (Study 2)

Chapter 3

Associations of physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people free from dementia (Study 2)

1. Introduction

Dementia has been perceived as a burdensome public health issue in aging societies (Wimo et al., 2013; Wimo and Prince, 2011). One of the most urgent challenges in the primary care field is to detect signs of cognitive impairment as early as possible before clinical diagnosis. Earlier detection has been suggested to allow for effective medical treatments preventing or slowing the onset of dementia (Siemers, 2011; Sperling et al., 2011). Hence, there is a great need for identifying biomarkers and other lifestyle-related markers which help the detection of subtle cognitive impairment occurring in the preclinical or earlier phase of the disease.

Physical fitness has been reported to be a lifestyle-related factor predicting future incidence of dementia and cognitive impairment (Alfaro-Acha et al., 2007; Buchman et al., 2007; Sattler et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2006). In contrast, it has not been fully understood whether physical fitness measures can serve as markers for detecting

concurrent pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. Two recent population-based studies suggested a role of gait speed as a marker of predementia cognitive impairment risk by demonstrating its association with global cognition in cognitively intact older people (Fitzpatrick et al., 2007; Mielke et al., 2013). However, the knowledge for other physical fitness measures has still been limited. The other measures not yet investigated include those often administered in community-based health checkups to evaluate different aspects of physical fitness. Because the primary detection essentially needs to cover community-dwelling older individuals having diverse physical functional status, it is worth understanding abilities of the other physical fitness measures as single markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to examine if each of physical fitness measures determined by five common tests would be associated with global cognition and predementia cognitive impairment risk in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia.

2. Methods

2-1. Participants

The present study was performed as part of the SGS-1 conducted from May to August

2011. The design of the SGS has been described in detail elsewhere (Narazaki et al., 2013). Briefly, it is an ongoing community-based prospective cohort study in Sasaguri Town, a regional town on Kyushu Island located in the southwest part of Japan, aiming to explore modifiable lifestyle-related factors causing older people to require long-term care. Subjects of the baseline research were 2,629 town residents who were aged 65 years or older and not certified as individuals requiring long-term care by the town at the end of January 2011. Of the baseline subjects, we excluded 17 individuals with a medical history of dementia or Parkinson's disease, 526 individuals who refused or did not complete cognitive tests, 146 individuals with signs of apparent cognitive problems determined by a MMSE score of <24, 177 individuals who refused physical fitness tests, and 211 individuals with incomplete data on other measurements (Figure 7). Accordingly, 1,552 participants were involved in the present study (59.0% of the baseline participants). Written informed consent was obtained from all the baseline subjects prior to their participation. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Institute of Health Science, Kyushu University.



Figure 7. Flow chart of participation.

Note: This figure shows the flow of participation in the present study. MoCA, MMSE, PAEE, and BMI denote Montreal Cognitive Assessment, Mini-Mental State Examination, physical activity energy expenditure, and body mass index, respectively.

2-2. Cognitive function measures

Cognitive function was measured with the Japanese version of the MoCA. The details of this instrument are explained elsewhere (Fujiwara et al., 2010). Like the original one (Nasreddine et al., 2005), it is a 30-point tool for measuring global cognition in the nine domains of attention, calculations, concentration, conceptual thinking, executive functions, language, memory, orientation, and visuoconstructional ability. A higher MoCA score indicates better cognitive function. All MoCA tests were administered to the participants by trained examiners in accordance with the official instruction (Suzuki, 2010). After the measurement, MoCA scores were independently evaluated by two trained evaluators (93.2% of agreement). Inconsistent evaluations between the two were judged together before final scores were determined. For the present study, MoCA scores without the 1-point correction for years of education were used as an index of global cognition. Also, poor cognitive function was determined as an indicator of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk using the MoCA normative data demonstrated in the last chapter (Table 1). Specifically, participants with MoCA scores 1.5 SD below the mean for age- and education-matched individuals were defined as those having poor cognitive function. In addition to the MoCA, we performed the Japanese version of MMSE to screen apparent cognitive problems with the cut-off score of <24, as explained in the above section. This MMSE cut-off score has been widely used to detect abnormal cognitive status and to screen dementia in previous studies (Holsinger et al., 2007).

2-3. Physical fitness measures

Multiple aspects of physical fitness were objectively measured through five tests in a random manner: the handgrip test for measuring upper-extremity strength, the isometric knee extension test for lower-extremity strength, the five-times sit-to-stand test for lowerextremity agility, the 5-meter gait test for locomotive coordination, and the open-eyed one-leg stand test for postural balance. These five tests were selected because they are commonly administered in community-based regular checkups for older people in Japan. The handgrip test was performed twice for each hand using a digital grip dynamometer (TKK5401; Takei Scientific Instruments, Niigata, Japan) in a standing position. In this test, the participants were asked to grip the dynamometer as strongly as possible. The handgrip strength (HS: kg) was determined as an average of the highest scores of the left and right hands. The isometric knee extension test was also performed twice for each leg using a digital tension meter (TKK5710e; Takei Scientific Instruments, Niigata, Japan) in a seated position with the knee flexed at 90 degrees. During the test, the participants were asked to exert knee extensor force as strongly as possible against an anklet extended from the tension meter while crossing their arms on their chest. The leg strength (LS: kg) was

defined in the same way as for the HS. In the five-times sit-to-stand test, the participants were requested to perform five consecutive chair stands as quickly as possible while crossing their arms on their chest, and the time (sec) spent to complete the task was recorded using a digital stopwatch. Only one trial was made for this test due to its strenuous nature. The sit-to-stand rate (SR: reps/sec) was determined by dividing 5 (reps) by the task time. The 5-meter gait test was conducted over a straight 11m lane with taped marks at the 3m and 8m points. The participants were asked to walk on the entire lane as fast as possible (but without running) in two trials, and the time (sec) for walking between the two marks was measured in each trial using a digital stopwatch. The gait speed (GS: m/sec) was calculated by dividing 5 (m) by the shortest task time in the two trials. In the open-eyed one-leg stand test, the participants tried to stand as long as possible up to 120 sec with a preferred leg while watching a taped mark on the wall 1m away from a toe line. This test was performed twice, and the time (sec) to failure of the task was measured in each trial using a digital stopwatch. The longer task time in the two trials was selected as the one-leg stand time (OT: sec). All of the five tests were administered by trained examiners with standardized procedures including standard instruction and practice. Additionally, the participants were encouraged to ask questions, if needed, throughout the

procedures for better understanding and compliance. Higher values indicate better physical fitness in all of the five measures.

2-4. Other measurements

Age, sex, years of formal education, and economic status (comfortable, relatively comfortable, relatively uncomfortable, and uncomfortable) were obtained from a questionnaire. The physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE: kcal/day) was defined as average daily energy expenditure due to physical activity and objectively measured by a tri-axial accelerometer device (Active Style Pro HJA-350IT; Omron Healthcare, Kyoto, Japan) (Ohkawara et al., 2011). For this measurement, the participants were asked to wear the device all day (except for sleeping and water activities) for 7 days. The PAEE was determined only for those wearing the device for at least 10 hours a day on two or more days (mean \pm SD of wearing period in the present participants: 6.8 ± 1.8 days). Body weight (kg) and height (m) were measured using conventional scales, and body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing the body weight by height squared (kg/m²). Instrumental ADL (IADL) were measured as part of the questionnaire using the five-item scale for instrumental self-maintenance of the Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Gerontology Index of Competence (Koyano et al., 2007). The five items asked about the abilities of using public transportation, shopping for commodities, preparing meals,

paying bills, and handling bank accounts in binary forms (able or unable). The participants answering "able" for all of the five items were regarded as independent in IADL and others as dependent in IADL. In the present study, the number of items answered with "able" was used as the index of IADL in regression analyses while the dependency in IADL was reported in demographic description. The psychological distress was measured by the Japanese version of the Kessler 6 psychological distress scale (K6) in the questionnaire (Sakurai et al., 2011). This is a 6-item and 24-point scale, and participants who scored 5 points or more on the scale were classified as having depressive status. In the present study, the K6 scores were used in regression analyses while the depressive status was reported in demographic description. Comorbidities of hypertension, heart disease, and diabetes and history of stroke were asked on the questionnaire in binary forms (presence or absence).

2-5. Statistical analyses

Mean \pm SD or median (25th-75th percentiles) was calculated for continuous variables, appropriately, and frequency (%) for categorical variables. To confirm similarities between the present participants and the baseline subjects, the Wilcoxon rank-sum test and the chi-square test were conducted for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. To examine associations between physical fitness and cognitive function, multiple linear regression analyses were conducted for each of the five physical fitness measures in the following three models: Model 1: entered each physical fitness measure as an independent variable, MoCA as a dependent variable, and age and sex as covariates, Model 2: Model 1 plus years of formal education and BMI as covariates, Model 3: Model 2 plus economic status, PAEE, IADL, K6, comorbidities of hypertension, heart disease, and diabetes, and history of stroke as covariates. To examine an association between each physical fitness measure and the poor cognitive function, a multiple logistic regression analysis was performed with adjustments for age, sex, years of formal education, BMI, economic status, PAEE, IADL, K6, comorbidities of hypertension, heart disease, and diabetes, and history of stroke as covariates. A significance level was set at two-sided α =.05. All statistical analyses were performed using the SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

3. Results

The median age (25th-75th percentiles) for the present participants was 72 (68-77) years and 40.1% of the participants were men (n=623). The mean \pm SD or median (25th-75th percentiles) of the MoCA and the physical fitness measures in the present participants were as follows: MoCA (n=1,552): 22.4 \pm 3.4 point, HS (n=1,529): 27.2 \pm

8.0 kg, LS (n=1,473): 27.0 \pm 10.3 kg, SR (n=1,488): 0.60 \pm 0.19 reps/sec, GS (n=1,540): 1.72 \pm 0.43 m/sec, OT (n=1,525): 45.7 (15.1-120) sec. Table 2 shows characteristics of the present participants on these and other variables.

Results of the multiple linear regression analyses were summarized in Table 3. Each of the five physical fitness scores was significantly associated with the MoCA score after adjusting for age and sex (Model 1: p<.001). After additional adjustment for years of formal education and body mass index, each physical fitness score remained associated with the MoCA score (Model 2: p<.001). After further adjustment for the other confounding factors (economic status, PAEE, IADL, K6, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes, and stroke), the association between each physical fitness score and MoCA was almost unchanged (Model 3: p<.001).

Results of the multiple logistic regression analyses were presented in Table 4. Each of the five physical fitness measures was significantly associated with the poor cognitive function after adjusting for the confounding factors (p<.05). Adjusted odds ratios (95% CI) for having the poor cognitive function by 1-unit increase in each physical fitness measure range from 0.230 (0.070-0.756) for SR to 0.992 (0.987-0.997) for OT (Table 4).

Indexes	Men		Women		
	65-74 years	75+ years	65-74 years	75+ years	
n	402	221	570	359	
Age, years	69 (67-71)	79 (77-82)	69 (67-71)	79 (77-82)	
MoCA, point	23.3 (3.1)	21.4 (3.3)	23.1 (3.2)	20.8 (3.5)	
HS, kg	36.4 (5.6)	31.4 (5.5)	23.3 (3.9)	20.2 (4.1)	
LS, kg	36.6 (9.9)	29.3 (8.6)	24.1 (6.9)	18.8 (6.5)	
SR, reps/sec	0.65 (0.19)	0.55 (0.17)	0.63 (0.18)	0.52 (0.16)	
GS, m/sec	1.93 (0.44)	1.68 (0.41)	1.76 (0.37)	1.44 (0.36)	
OT, sec	109.3 (35.0-120)	22.9 (7.2-47.6)	80.6 (24.6-120)	16.7 (5.8-43.4)	
Education, years	12 (10-14)	11 (9-13)	12 (9-12)	10 (9-11)	
Economy [*] , %	32.1	47.5	38.2	48.2	
PAEE, kcal/day	557.5 (162.8)	453.6 (144.7)	536.3 (134.5)	405.6 (115.8)	
BMI, kg/m ²	23.5 (2.7)	23.0 (2.8)	23.3 (3.4)	22.9 (3.3)	
IADL [†] , %	16.9	14.0	1.4	6.7	
K6 [‡] , %	24.9	27.1	30.4	32.6	
Hypertension, %	38.1	37.1	33.0	46.5	
Heart disease, %	12.9	25.8	5.8	18.7	
Diabetes, %	19.7	17.6	9.6	9.7	
Stroke history, %	4.5	5.0	1.6	3.1	

Table 2. Characteristics of the present participants.

Note: Continuous variables are represented as mean (SD) or median (25th-75th percentiles). *Percentage of participants answering "comfortable" and "relatively comfortable" in economic status; [†]percentage of participants regarded as dependent in instrumental activities of daily living (IADL score of <5); [‡]percentage of participants classified as having depressive status (K6 score of \geq 5). MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment; HS: handgrip strength; LS: leg strength; SR: sit-to-stand rate; GS: gait speed; OT: one-leg stand time; PAEE: physical activity energy expenditure; BMI: body mass index; IADL: instrumental activities of daily living; K6: Kessler 6 psychological distress scale. SD denotes standard deviation.

		Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
Independent variables	u	Regression coefficient	d	Regression coefficient	d	Regression coefficient	đ
		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
HS, kg	1,529	0.10 (0.07-0.14)	<.001	0.09 (0.06-0.13)	<.001	0.08 (0.05-0.12)	<.001
LS, kg	1,473	0.07 (0.05-0.09)	<.001	0.06 (0.04-0.08)	<.001	0.06 (0.04-0.08)	<.001
SR, reps/sec	1,488	2.34 (1.42-3.26)	<.001	1.95 (1.05-2.85)	<.001	1.55 (0.64-2.45)	<.001
GS, m/sec	1,540	1.38 (0.96-1.80)	<.001	1.17 (0.76-1.57)	<.001	1.01 (0.59-1.43)	<.001
OT, sec	1,525	0.02 (0.01-0.02)	<.001	0.01 (0.01-0.02)	<.001	0.01 (0.01-0.02)	<.001

Table 3. Associations between each physical fitness measure and MoCA.

age and sex as covariates; Model 2: Model 1 plus years of education and BMI as covariates; Model 3: Model 2 plus other confounding factors (economic status, PAEE, IADL, K6, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes, and stroke) as covariates. MoCA: Montreal Cognitive PAEE: physical activity energy expenditure; IADL: instrumental activities of daily living; K6: Kessler 6 psychological distress scale. 95% Note: Model 1: association between each physical fitness measure as an independent variable and MoCA as a dependent variable, with Assessment; HS: handgrip strength; LS: leg strength; SR: sit-to-stand rate; GS: gait speed; OT: one-leg stand time; BMI: body mass index; CI denotes 95% confidential interval of regression coefficient. Coefficients of determination (adjusted R-squared) in the regression analyses are as follows: Model 1: 0.145, 0.138, 0.132, 0.148, 0.157; Model 2: 0.197, 0.192, 0.183, 0.198, 0.205; Model 3: 0.210, 0.206, 0.196, 0.209, 0.217 (for HS, LS, SR, GS, and OT, in respective models).

Independent variables	n	Case (%)	Odds ratio	95% CI	р
HS, kg	1,529	123 (8.0)	0.948	0.909-0.989	.0139
LS, kg	1,473	117 (7.9)	0.958	0.932-0.985	.0022
SR, rep/sec	1,488	118 (7.9)	0.230	0.070-0.756	.0155
GS, m/sec	1,540	125 (8.1)	0.458	0.277-0.756	.0023
OT, sec	1,525	123 (8.1)	0.992	0.987-0.997	.0011

 Table 4. Adjusted odds ratios for having poor cognitive function by 1-unit increase

 in each physical fitness measure.

Note: Poor cognitive function was defined by MoCA score 1.5 standard deviation below the mean for age and education matched group in the normative MoCA data shown as Table 1. Multiple logistic regression analysis was conducted for each physical fitness measure with adjustments for age, sex, years of education, BMI, economic status, PAEE, IADL, K6, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes, and stroke as covariates. HS: handgrip strength; LS: leg strength; SR: sit-to-stand rate; GS: gait speed; OT: one-leg stand time; MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment; BMI: body mass index; PAEE: physical activity energy expenditure; IADL: instrumental activities of daily living; K6: Kessler 6 psychological distress scale. 95% CI denotes 95% confidential interval of odds ratio.

4. Discussion

The present study examined associations between five physical fitness measures and cognitive function in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia. The primary finding of the present study is that each of the five physical fitness measures was linearly and positively associated with the MoCA score and was also associated with the poor cognitive function defined by the MoCA score. These associations were independent of age, sex, years of formal education, BMI, and other confounding factors.

Examining lifestyle-related markers of cognitive functioning before the onset of dementia is expected to be of value to promote early detection of subtle cognitive impairment in community-based settings. Despite the promise of physical fitness measures as markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk, research evidence is still limited. To our knowledge, only two studies have examined the potential role of physical fitness as a marker of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk by showing association between gait speed and global cognition in non-demented older people living in the United States (Fitzpatrick et al., 2007; Mielke et al., 2013). In one study from the Ginkgo Evaluation of Memory study group, the investigators used the 3MSE as a global cognitive test and excluded individuals with the test score of <80 from the study participants (Fitzpatrick et al., 2007). They found that the risk of poor cognition defined as the 3MSE

score of 80 to 85 was almost twice for participants in the slowest quartile of maximal walking speed compared with that for participants in the fastest quartile after adjusting for demographic and comorbid factors. Another study from the Mayo Clinic group also showed an association between usual walking speed and global cognition measured as a standard score of a neuropsychological battery covering four cognitive domains in older adults without diagnosed mild cognitive impairment and dementia (Mielke et al., 2013). These associations reasonably support the ability of gait speed as a marker of predementia cognitive impairment risk in the United States older people free from dementia, but comparable observations had not been made in other ethnicities including Japanese. The present study first demonstrated similar associations of gait speed with global cognition as well as pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in a Japanese older population free from dementia. Moreover, the present study further demonstrated novel associations of each of the other four physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in the Japanese population (Tables 3 and 4). A notable aspect of the present study is the use of the MoCA as a reasonable neuropsychological instrument to measure global cognition among the participants free from dementia. MoCA is a relatively new instrument devised to detect early cognitive changes with multiple domains for screening mild cognitive impairment (Nasreddine et al., 2005). This instrument has been reported to have higher sensitivity to subtle cognitive alterations than MMSE and other conventional tools (Nasreddine et al., 2005; Pendlebury et al., 2010), and has been used as a scale of global cognition in population-based studies (Donoghue et al., 2012; King et al., 2013).

One possible mechanism underlying the observed associations is the concurrent deterioration of the brain regions responsible for cognitive and physical performance in the aging stage before the onset of dementia. Small to relatively large deterioration of overall brain structures is observed by magnetic resonance imaging even in healthy older adults (Resnick et al., 2003). Such deterioration may lead to concurrent alterations in cognitive and physical performance in the pre-dementia stage. Because all the physical fitness tests used in the present study require refined brain control for initiation of the tasks, recruitment of muscles, and motor coordination in given constraints, it can be plausible that the deterioration of the brain affects not only cognitive function but also the quality of physical performance objectified by the physical fitness measures.

The strengths of the present study are the relatively large population-based samples, the choice of the cognitive instrument (i.e., MoCA) suitable for examining the differences in cognitive function in the participants free from dementia, the use of multiple objective measures of physical fitness, and the variety of confounding measures including the accelerometer-derived PAEE and other health- related scales such as the IADL and K6. In contrast, the present report has several limitations which are worth noting here. First, the sample of the present study might be biased to some extent by the exclusion of subjects (Figure 7). Specifically, subjects excluded due to the refusal or incompletion of the cognitive tests were younger and had a higher proportion of men than the remaining subjects (median age: 72 vs. 73 years, p < .01; percentage of men: 50.8 vs. 41.8%, p < .001). However, since the excluded subjects are considered to have relatively good status on both physical and cognitive functions, the influence of the exclusion on the observed associations may not be considerable. Also, subjects excluded due to the refusal of the physical fitness tests and the other incomplete measures had a higher proportion of men and lower MoCA scores than the present participants (percentage of men: 48.2 vs. 40.1%, p < .005; mean MoCA score: 21.8 vs. 22.4 years, p < .001). Nevertheless, the influence of this exclusion may also not be sizable because the excluded subjects presumably had relatively lower physical functioning than the present participants besides the lower cognitive function. Second, the relatively large samples of the present study did not allow us to perform neurological examination to determine older individuals with clinical cognitive impairment. Instead, we used the MMSE cut-off score of <24 which has been widely used to screen dementia in clinical and population-based studies (Holsinger et al.,

2007). Finally, because the present study was performed in a single Japanese town, generalizability of the results to other regions, especially to those outside of Japan, is limited. Therefore, further community-based studies in other populations should be performed to overcome this limitation.

5. Conclusion

In summary, the present study first demonstrated the associations of the five physical fitness measures with global cognition and pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia, independent of age, sex, years of formal education, body mass index, and other confounding factors.

Chapter 4

Overall discussion and conclusion
Chapter 4

Overall discussion and conclusion

The purpose of this doctoral thesis was to examine abilities of physical fitness measures as potential markers of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people. To address this purpose, two original studies were conducted. The first study investigated MoCA scores in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia and determined pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk by defining poor cognitive function based on the MoCA normative data with respect to age and education. The second study examined associations between five physical fitness measures and cognitive function in Japanese community-dwelling older people free from dementia. This study found that each of the five physical fitness measures was linearly and positively associated with global cognition determined by the MoCA score, and was also associated with pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk determined in the first study, after adjusting for age, sex, years of education, BMI, and other confounding factors.

Based on the observed findings, this doctoral thesis offers a practical value of the physical fitness measures as objective means to assist identifying and monitoring early cognitive decline or pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-based regular

checkups. Virtually, all the physical fitness tests used in the present study are simple and require no clinical resources or sophisticated devices. For example, the gait test, sit-tostand test, and one-leg stand test need only a stopwatch and can be self-performed even at home. In addition, considering the significant association for each physical fitness measure, the five tests may not necessarily have to be performed all together. Rather, any one or a few tests can be selected in the regular checkups, depending on the physical functional status of individuals being tested. Incorporating the physical fitness measures into community-based regular checkups may add information to help earlier detection of cognitive impairment which can allow potential patients to receive effective medical treatments to prevent or slow the onset of dementia sooner. If this will be the case in the near future, it could bring a positive economic impact to society. Indeed, an estimation showed that if new treatment delaying the onset of AD by 5 years will be available in 2015, it could result in the reduction of the projected Medicare costs of AD by 45.1% (from \$627 billion to \$344 billion) in 2050 in the United States (Sperling et al., 2011).

This doctoral thesis has some limitations which are worth noting here. First, although poor cognitive function defined as an indicator of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in the thesis is recognized as an established risk factor of dementia (Saxton et al., 2004; Tierney et al., 2005), we were unable to confirm its association with incident dementia (or other phenotypes of clinical cognitive impairment) in the population. We are going to follow the community-dwelling older people in future prospective observations to examine the association to validate the practical significance of this index. Second, the doctoral thesis did not provide any normative data for the physical fitness measures, which may be required for practical assessment of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk by these measures. Thus, we will try to develop these normative data in future studies. Finally, the present studies were conducted in the single Japanese town, generalizability of the present findings to other populations is considered limited. However, the findings may be able to be applicable to other places in Japan because ethnicity and social environment have been relatively homogeneous across Japan. In contrast, to confirm generalizability of the results to other regions outside of Japan, additional communitybased studies should be performed in various populations across the world.

In conclusion, this doctoral thesis suggests that each of the five physical fitness measures has a potential ability as a single lifestyle-related marker of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-dwelling older people, and thereby can be used to help earlier detection of pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk in community-based preventive care. Further studies remain to be done to develop a specific method for detecting pre-dementia cognitive impairment risk with the physical fitness measures.

References

- Aggarwal, N.T., Wilson, R.S., Beck, T.L., Bienias, J.L. and Bennett, D.A. (2006) Motor dysfunction in mild cognitive impairment and the risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *Archives of Neurology* 63, 1763-1769.
- Agrell, B. and Dehljn, O. (1998) The clock-drawing test. Age and Ageing 27, 399-403.
- Albert, M.S., DeKosky, S.T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H.H., Fox, N.C., Gamst,
 A., Holtzman, D.M., Jagust, W.J., Petersen, R.C., Snyder, P.J., Carrillo, M.C., Thies, B.
 and Phelps, C.H. (2011) The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to
 Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on AgingAlzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 7, 270-279.
- Alfaro-Acha, A., Al Snih, S., Raji, M.A., Markides, K.S. and Ottenbacher, K.J. (2007) Does 8-foot walk time predict cognitive decline in older Mexicans Americans? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55, 245-251.
- Alzheimer's Association (2010) Changing the Trajectory of Alzheimer's disease: a national imperative. Chicago: Alzheimer's Association.

Anstey, K.J., von Sanden, C., Salim, A. and O'Kearney, R. (2007) Smoking as a risk

factor for dementia and cognitive decline: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. American Journal of Epidemiology 166, 367-378.

Apostolova, L.G. (2014) Dementia. In: Best practices in neurological care. Ed: Ovbiagele,

B. London: Future Medicine Ltd. 70-92.

- Asada, T. (2013) Prevalence of dementia in Japanese urban areas and measures for daily functional impairment due to dementia. Grant report for Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (201218011A). *MHLW grants system*. Available from URL: http://mhlw-grants.niph.go.jp/niph/search/NIDD00.do?resrchNum=201218011A. (In Japanese).
- Ayalon, L. (2011) The IQCODE versus a single-item informant measure to discriminate between cognitively intact individuals and individuals with dementia or cognitive impairment. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology* 24, 168-173.
- Bäckman, L. (2008) Memory and cognition in preclinical dementia: what we know and what we do not know. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* 53, 354-360.
- Barnes, D.E., Covinsky, K.E., Whitmer, R.A., Kuller, L.H., Lopez, O.L. and Yaffe, K.(2009) Predicting risk of dementia in older adults: The late-life dementia risk index.*Neurology* 73, 173-179.

Barnes, D.E. and Yaffe, K. (2009) Predicting dementia: role of dementia risk indices.

Future Neurology 4, 555-560.

- Bhalla, R.K., Butters, M.A., Becker, J.T., Houck, P.R., Snitz, B.E., Lopez, O.L., Aizenstein, H.J., Raina, K.D., DeKosky, S.T. and Reynolds, C.F. 3rd. (2009) Patterns of mild cognitive impairment after treatment of depression in the elderly. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 17, 308-316.
- Borson, S., Scanlan, J., Brush, M., Vitallano, P. and Dokmak, A. (2000) The Mini-Cog: a cognitive 'vital signs' measure for dementia screening in multi-lingual elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 15, 1021-1027.
- Borson, S., Scanlan, J.M., Watanabe, J., Tu, S.P. and Lessig, M. (2006) Improving identification of cognitive impairment in primary care. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 21, 349-355.
- Boyle, P.A., Buchman, A.S., Wilson, R.S., Leurgans, S.E. and Bennett, D.A. (2009) Association of muscle strength with the risk of Alzheimer disease and the rate of cognitive decline in community-dwelling older persons. *Archives of Neurology* 66, 1339-1344.
- Brandt, J., Spencer, M. and Folstein, M. (1988) The Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status. *Neuropsychiatry, Neuropsychology, and Behavioral Neurology* 1, 111–117.

Bravo, G. and Hebert, R. (1997) Age- and education-specific reference values for the

Mini-Mental and modified Mini-Mental State Examinations derived from a nondemented elderly population. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 12, 1008-1018.

- Buchman, A.S. and Bennett, D.A. (2011) Loss of motor function in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics* 11, 665-676.
- Buchman, A.S., Leurgans, S.E., Boyle, P.A., Schneider, J.A., Arnold, S.E. and Bennett DA. (2011) Combinations of motor measures more strongly predict adverse health outcomes in old age: the rush memory and aging project, a community-based cohort study. *BMC Medicine* 9, 42.
- Buchman, A.S., Wilson, R.S., Boyle, P.A., Bienias, J.L. and Bennett, D.A. (2007) Grip strength and the risk of incident Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroepidemiology* 29, 66-73.
- Busse, A., Hensel, A., Guhne, U., Angermeyer, M.C. and Riedel-Heller, S.G. (2006) Mild cognitive impairment: long-term course of four clinical subtypes. *Neurology* 67, 2176-2185.
- Callahan, C.M., Unverzagt, F.W., Hui, S.L., Perkins, A.J. and Hendrie, H.C. (2002) Sixitem screener to identify cognitive impairment among potential subjects for clinical research. *Medical Care* 40, 771-781.
- Clouston, S.A., Brewster, P., Kuh, D., Richards, M., Cooper, R., Hardy, R., Rubin, M.S.

and Hofer, S.M. (2013) The dynamic relationship between physical function and cognition in longitudinal aging cohorts. *Epidemiologic Reviews* 35, 33-50.

- Cook, S.E., Marsiske, M. and McCoy, K.J. (2009) The use of the Modified Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status (TICS-M) in the detection of amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology* 22, 103-109.
- Corder, E.H., Saunders, A.M., Strittmatter, W.J., Schmechel, D.E., Gaskell, P.C., Small, G.W., Roses, A.D., Haines, J.L. and Pericak-Vance, M.A. (1993) Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. *Science* 261, 921-923.
- Crum, R.M., Anthony, J.C., Bassett, S.S. and Folstein, M.F. (1993) Population-based norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by age and educational level. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 269, 2386-2391.
- Cruz-Orduña, I., Bellón, J.M., Torrero, P., Aparicio, E., Sanz, A., Mula, N., Marzana, G., Begué, C., Cabezón, D. and Olazarán, J. (2012) Detecting MCI and dementia in primary care: efficiency of the MMS, the FAQ and the IQCODE. *Family Practice* 29, 401-406.
- Cullen, B., Fahy, S., Cunningham, C.J., Coen, R.F., Bruce, I., Greene, E., Coakley, D., Walsh, J.B. and Lawlor, B.A. (2005) Screening for dementia in an Irish community

sample using MMSE: a comparison of norm-adjusted versus fixed cut-points. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 20, 371-376.

- Dalrymple-Alford, J.C., MacAskill, M.R., Nakas, C.T., Livingston, L., Graham, C., Crucian, G.P., Melzer, T.R., Kirwan, J., Keenan, R., Wells, S., Porter, R.J., Watts, R. and Anderson, T.J. (2010) The MoCA: well-suited screen for cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 75, 1717-1725.
- Daviglus, M.L., Plassman, B.L., Pirzada, A., Bell, C.C., Bowen, P.E., Burke, J.R.,
 Connolly, E.S. Jr., Dunbar-Jacob, J.M., Granieri, E.C., McGarry, K., Patel, D., Trevisan,
 M. and Williams, J.W. Jr. (2009) Risk factors and preventive interventions for
 Alzheimer disease: state of the science. *Archives of Neurology* 68, 1185-1190.
- Di Carlo, A., Lamassa, M., Baldereschi, M., Inzitari, M., Scafato, E., Farchi, G. and Inzitari, D. (2007) CIND and MCI in the Italian elderly: frequency, vascular risk factors, progression to dementia. *Neurology* 68, 1909-1916.
- Dong Y., Sharma, V.K., Chan, B.P., Venketasubramanian, N., Teoh, H.L., Seet, R.C., Tanicala, S., Chan, Y.H. and Chen, C. (2010) The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is superior to the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) for the detection of vascular cognitive impairment after acute stroke. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 299, 15-18.

- Donnelly, K., Donnelly, J.P. and Cory, E. (2008) Primary care screening for cognitive impairment in elderly veterans. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias* 23, 218-226.
- Donoghue, O.A., Horgan, N.F., Savva, G.M., Cronin, H., O'Regan, C. and Kenny, R.A. (2012) Association between timed up-and-go and memory, executive function, and processing speed. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 60, 1681-1686.
- Ehreke, L., Luck, T., Luppa, M., König, H.H., Villringer, A. and Riedel-Heller, S.G. (2011) Clock drawing test - screening utility for mild cognitive impairment according to different scoring systems: results of the Leipzig Longitudinal Study of the Aged (LEILA 75+). *International Psychogeriatrics* 23, 1592-1601.
- Ehreke, L., Luppa, M., Luck, T., Wiese, B., Weyerer, S., Eifflaender-Gorfer, S., Weeg, D.,
 Olbrich, J., van den Bussche, H., Bachmann, C., Eisele, M., Maier, W., Jessen, F.,
 Wagner, M., Fuchs, A., Pentzek, M., Angermeyer, M.C., König, H.H. and RiedelHeller, S.G. (2009) Is the clock drawing test appropriate for screening for mild
 cognitive impairment? results of the German study on Ageing, Cognition and Dementia
 in Primary Care Patients (AgeCoDe). *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 28, 365-372.

Escobar, J.I., Burnam, A., Karno, M., Forsythe, A., Landsverk, J. and Golding, J.M.

(1986) Use of the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) in a community population of mixed ethnicity. Cultural and linguistic artifacts. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease* 174, 607-14.

- Fitzpatrick, A.L., Buchanan, C.K., Nahin, R.L., Dekosky, S.T., Atkinson, H.H., Carlson, M.C. and Williamson, J.D. (2007) Associations of gait speed and other measures of physical function with cognition in a healthy cohort of elderly persons. *The Journals* of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 62, 1244-1251.
- Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E. and McHugh, P.R. (1975) "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 12, 189-198.
- Fratiglioni, L., Wang, H.X., Ericsson, K., Maytan, M. and Winblad, B. (2000) Influence of social network on occurrence of dementia: a community-based longitudinal study. *Lancet* 355, 1315-1319.
- Freitas, S., Simoes, M.R., Alves, L. and Santana, I. (2011) Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA): normative study for the Portuguese population. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology* 33, 989-996.
- Fujiwara, Y., Suzuki, H., Yasunaga, M., Sugiyama, M., Ijuin, M., Sakuma, N., Inagaki,H., Iwasa, H., Ura, C., Yatomi, N., Ishii, K., Tokumaru, A.M., Homma, A., Nasreddine,

- Z. and Shinkai, S. (2010) Brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment in older Japanese: validation of the Japanese version of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 10, 225-232.
- G8 Health Ministers (2013) G8 Dementia Summit Declaration. Available from URL: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/265869 /2901668 G8 DementiaSummitDeclaration acc.pdf.
- Gordon, R.S. Jr. (1983) An operational classification of disease prevention. *Public Health Reports* 98, 107-109.
- Holsinger, T., Deveau, J., Boustani, M. and Williams, J.W. Jr. (2007) Does this patient have dementia? *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 297, 2391-2404.
- Holsinger, T., Plassman, B.L., Stechuchak, K.M., Burke, J.R., Coffman, C.J. and Williams, J.W. Jr. (2012) Screening for cognitive impairment: comparing the performance of four instruments in primary care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 60, 1027-1036.
- Hurd, M.D., Martorell, P., Delavande, A., Mullen, K.J. and Langa, K.M. (2013) Monetary costs of dementia in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine* 368, 1326-1334.
- Jack, C.R. Jr., Albert, M.S., Knopman, D.S., McKhann, G.M., Sperling, R.A., Carrillo,

M.C., Thies, B. and Phelps, C.H. (2011) Introduction to the recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 7, 257-262.

- Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2011) *Comprehensive survey of living conditions 2010*. Tokyo: Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare.
- Jorm, A.F. (2001) History of depression as a risk factor for dementia: an updated review. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 35, 776-781.
- Jeong, S.K., Cho, K.H. and Kim, J.M. (2004) The usefulness of the Korean version of modified Mini-Mental State Examination (K-mMMSE) for dementia screening in community dwelling elderly people. *BMC Public Health* 4, 31.
- Jorm, A.F., Broe, G.A., Creasey, H., Sulway, M.R., Dent, O., Fairley, M.J., Kos, S.C. and Tennant, C. (1996) Further data on the validity of the informant questionnaire on cognitive decline in the elderly (IQCODE). *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 11, 131-139.
- Jorm, A.F. and Jacomb, P.A. (1989) The Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE): socio-demographic correlates, reliability, validity and some norms. *Psychological Medicine* 19, 1015-1022.

Jorm, A.F. and Jolley, D. (1998) The incidence of dementia: a meta-analysis. Neurology

51, 728-733.

- Jorm, A.F., Masaki, K.H., Petrovitch, H., Ross, G.W. and White, L.R. (2005) Cognitive deficits 3 to 6 years before dementia onset in a population sample: the Honolulu-Asia aging study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 53, 452-455.
- Jungwirth, S., Zehetmayer, S., Bauer, P., Weissgram, S., Tragl, K.H. and Fischer, P. (2009a) Prediction of Alzheimer dementia with short neuropsychological instruments. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 116, 1513-1521.
- Jungwirth, S., Zehetmayer, S., Bauer, P., Weissgram, S., Tragl, K.H. and Fischer, P. (2009b) Screening for Alzheimer's dementia at age 78 with short psychometric instruments. *International Psychogeriatrics* 21, 548-559.
- Kaufer, D.I., Williams, C.S., Braaten, A.J., Gill, K., Zimmerman, S. and Sloane, P.D.
 (2008) Cognitive screening for dementia and mild cognitive impairment in assisted living: comparison of 3 tests. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 9, 586-593.
- King, K.S., Peshock, R.M., Warren, M.W., Alhilali, L., Hulsey, K., McColl, R., Weiner, M.F., Ayers, C. and Whittemore, A. (2013) Evaluation of a practical visual MRI rating scale of brain white matter hyperintensities for clinicians based on largest lesion size regardless of location. *American Journal of Neuroradiology* 34, 797-801.

- Koyano, W., Shibata, H., Nakazato, K., Haga, H. and Suyama, Y. (1991) Measurement of competence: reliability and validity of the TMIG Index of Competence. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*. 13, 103-116.
- Lam, L.C., Tam, C.W., Lui, V.W., Chan, W.C., Chan, S.S., Chiu, H.F., Leung, T., Tham, M.K., Ho, K.S. and Chan, W.M. (2008) Screening of mild cognitive impairment in Chinese older adults - a multistage validation of the Chinese abbreviated mild cognitive impairment test. *Neuroepidemiology* 30, 6-12.
- Lee, J.Y., Lee, D.W., Cho, S.J., Na, D.L., Hong, J.J., Kim, S.K., You, R.L., Youn, J.H., Kwon, M., Lee, J.H. and Maeng, J.C. (2008a) Brief screening for mild cognitive impairment in elderly outpatient clinic: validation of the Korean version of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology* 21, 104-110.
- Lee, K.S., Kim, E.A., Hong, C.H., Lee, D.W., Oh, B.H. and Cheong, H.K. (2008b) Clock drawing test in mild cognitive impairment: quantitative analysis of four scoring methods and qualitative analysis. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 26, 483-489.
- Li, M., Ng, T.P., Kua, E.H. and Ko, S.M. (2006) Brief informant screening test for mild cognitive impairment and early Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and Geriatric*

Cognitive Disorders 21, 392-402.

- Lin, J.S., O'Connor, E., Rossom, R.C., Perdue, L.A., Burda, B.U., Thompson, M. and Eckstrom, E. (2013a) Screening for Cognitive Impairment in Older Adults: An Evidence Update for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Evidence Syntheses, formerly Systematic Evidence Reviews No.14-05198-EF-1. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, Maryland, US.
- Lin, J.S., O'Connor, E., Rossom, R.C., Perdue, L.A. and Eckstrom, E. (2013b) Screening for cognitive impairment in older adults: A systematic review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 159, 601-612.
- Lindsay, J., Laurin, D., Verreault, R., Hébert, R., Helliwell, B., Hill, G.B. and McDowell,
 I. (2002) Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: a prospective analysis from the
 Canadian Study of Health and Aging. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 156, 445-453.
- Lopez, O.L., Jagust, W.J., DeKosky, S.T., Becker, J.T., Fitzpatrick, A., Dulberg, C.,
 Breitner, J., Lyketsos, C., Jones, B., Kawas, C., Carlson, M. and Kuller, L.H. (2003)
 Prevalence and classification of mild cognitive impairment in the Cardiovascular
 Health Study Cognition Study: part 1. *Archives of Neurology* 60, 1385-1389.

Luchsinger, J.A., Noble, J.M. and Scarmeas, N. (2007) Diet and Alzheimer's disease.

Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports 7, 366-372.

- Luis, C.A., Keegan, A.P. and Mullan, M. (2009) Cross validation of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in community dwelling older adults residing in the Southeastern US. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 24, 197-201.
- Manly, J.J., Bell-McGinty, S., Tang, M.X., Schupf, N., Stern, Y. and Mayeux, R. (2005) Implementing diagnostic criteria and estimating frequency of mild cognitive impairment in an urban community. *Archives of Neurology* 62, 1739-1746.
- Manly, J.J., Schupf, N., Stern, Y., Brickman, A.M., Tang, M.X. and Mayeux, R. (2011) Telephone-based identification of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in a multicultural cohort. *Archives of Neurology* 68, 607-614.
- Manly, J.J., Tang, M.X., Schupf, N., Stern, Y., Vonsattel, J.P. and Mayeux, R. (2008) Frequency and course of mild cognitive impairment in a multiethnic community. *Annals of Neurology* 63, 494-506.
- Markwick, A., Zamboni, G. and de Jager, C.A. (2012) Profiles of cognitive subtest impairment in the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) in a research cohort with normal Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology* 34, 750-757.
- Masur, D.M., Sliwinski, M., Lipton, R.B., Blau, A.D. and Crystal, H.A. (1994)

Neuropsychological prediction of dementia and the absence of dementia in healthy elderly persons. *Neurology* 44, 1427-1432.

- McDowell, I., Kristjansson, B., Hill, G.B. and Hébert, R. (1997) Community screening for dementia: the Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE) and Modified Mini-Mental State Exam (3MS) compared. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 50, 377-383.
- McKhann, G.M., Knopman, D.S., Chertkow, H., Hyman, B.T., Jack, C.R. Jr., Kawas, C.H., Klunk, W.E., Koroshetz, W.J., Manly, J.J., Mayeux, R., Mohs, R.C., Morris, J.C., Rossor, M.N., Scheltens, P., Carrillo, M.C., Thies, B., Weintraub, S. and Phelps, C.H. (2011) The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 7, 263-269.
- Mielke, M.M., Roberts, R.O., Savica, R., Cha, R., Drubach, D.I., Christianson, T., Pankratz, V.S., Geda, Y.E., Machulda, M.M., Ivnik, R.J., Knopman, D.S., Boeve, B.F., Rocca, W.A. and Petersen, R.C. (2013) Assessing the temporal relationship between cognition and gait: slow gait predicts cognitive decline in the Mayo clinic study of aging. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 68, 929-937.

Mukamal, K.J., Kuller, L.H., Fitzpatrick, A.L., Longstreth, W.T. Jr., Mittleman, M.A. and

Siscovick, D.S. (2003) Prospective study of alcohol consumption and risk of dementia in older adults. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 289, 1405-1413.

- Mungas, D., Marshall, S.C., Weldon, M., Haan, M. and Reed, B.R. (1996) Age and education correction of Mini-Mental State Examination for English and Spanishspeaking elderly. *Neurology* 46, 700-6.
- Nakata, E., Kasai, M., Kasuya, M., Akanuma, K., Meguro, M., Ishii, H., Yamaguchi, S. and Meguro, K. (2009) Combined memory and executive function tests can screen mild cognitive impairment and converters to dementia in a community: the Osaki-Tajiri project. *Neuroepidemiology* 33, 103-10.
- Narazaki, K., Nofuji, Y., Honda, T., Matsuo, E., Yonemoto, K. and Kumagai, S. (2013) Normative data for the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in a Japanese communitydwelling older population. *Neuroepidemiology* 40, 23-29.
- Nasreddine, Z.S., Phillips, N.A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I.,
 Cummings, J.L. and Chertkow, H. (2005) The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA:
 a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 53, 695-699.
- Nielsen, H., Lolk, A., Andersen, K., Andersen, J. and Kragh-Sørensen, P. (1999) Characteristics of elderly who develop Alzheimer's disease during the next two years-

a neuropsychological study using CAMCOG. The Odense Study. *International Journal* of Geriatric Psychiatry 14, 957-963.

- Nithianantharajah, J. and Hannan, A.J. (2009) The neurobiology of brain and cognitive reserve: mental and physical activity as modulators of brain disorders. *Progress in Neurobiology* 89, 369-382.
- Ohkawara, K., Oshima, Y., Hikihara, Y., Ishikawa-Takata, K., Tabata, I. and Tanaka, S. (2011) Real-time estimation of daily physical activity intensity by a triaxial accelerometer and a gravity-removal classification algorithm. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 105, 1681-1691.
- Pendlebury, S.T., Cuthbertson, F.C., Welch, S.J., Mehta, Z. and Rothwell, P.M. (2010) Underestimation of cognitive impairment by Mini-Mental State Examination versus the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in patients with transient ischemic attack and stroke: a population-based study. *Stroke* 41, 1290-1293.
- Petersen, R.C. (2004) Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 256, 183-194.
- Petersen, R.C. (2011) Clinical practice. Mild cognitive impairment. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 364, 2227-2234.

Petersen, R.C., Caracciolo, B., Brayne, C., Gauthier, S., Jelic, V. and Fratiglioni, L. (2014)

Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 275, 214-228.

- Petersen, R.C., Roberts, R.O., Knopman, D.S., Boeve, B.F., Geda, Y.E., Ivnik, R.J., Smith,G.E. and Jack, C.R. Jr. (2009) Mild cognitive impairment: ten years later. *Archives of Neurology* 66, 1447-1455.
- Petersen, R.C., Smith, G.E., Waring, S.C., Ivnik, R.J., Tangalos, E.G. and Kokmen, E. (1999) Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. *Archives of Neurology* 56, 303-308.
- Plassman, B.L., Langa, K.M., Fisher, G.G., Heeringa, S.G., Weir, D.R., Ofstedal, M.B.,
 Burke, J.R., Hurd, M.D., Potter, G.G., Rodgers, W.L., Steffens, D.C., McArdle, J.J.,
 Willis, R.J. and Wallace, R.B. (2008) Prevalence of cognitive impairment without
 dementia in the United States. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 148, 427-434.
- Rahman, T.T. and El Gaafary, M.M. (2009) Montreal Cognitive Assessment Arabic version: reliability and validity prevalence of mild cognitive impairment among elderly attending geriatric clubs in Cairo. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 9, 54-61.
- Rapp, M.A. and Reischies, F.M. (2005) Attention and executive control predict Alzheimer disease in late life: results from the Berlin Aging Study (BASE). *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 13, 134-141.

- Rideaux, T., Beaudreau, S.A., Fernandez, S. and O'Hara, R. (2012) Utility of the abbreviated Fuld Object Memory Evaluation and MMSE for detection of dementia and cognitive impairment not dementia in diverse ethnic groups. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 31, 371-386.
- Roberts, R. and Knopman, D.S. (2013) Classification and epidemiology of MCI. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine* 29, 753-772.
- Rossetti, H.C., Lacritz, L.H., Cullum, C.M. and Weiner, M.F. (2011) Normative data for the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) in a population-based sample. *Neurology* 77, 1272-1275.
- Resnick, S.M., Pham, D.L., Kraut, M.A., Zonderman, A.B. and Davatzikos, C. (2003) Longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging studies of older adults: a shrinking brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 23, 3295-3301.
- Sakurai, K., Nishi, A., Kondo, K., Yanagida, K. and Kawakami, N. (2011) Screening performance of K6/K10 and other screening instruments for mood and anxiety disorders in Japan. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* 65, 434-441.
- Sattler, C., Erickson, K.I., Toro, P. and Schroder, J. (2011) Physical fitness as a protective factor for cognitive impairment in a prospective population-based study in Germany. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 26, 709-718.

- Saxton, J., Lopez, O.L., Ratcliff, G., Dulberg, C., Fried, L.P., Carlson, M.C., Newman, A.B. and Kuller, L. (2004) Preclinical Alzheimer disease: neuropsychological test performance 1.5 to 8 years prior to onset. *Neurology* 63, 2341-2347.
- Saxton, J., Morrow, L., Eschman, A., Archer, G., Luther, J. and Zuccolotto, A. (2009) Computer assessment of mild cognitive impairment. *Postgraduate Medicine* 121, 177-185.
- Scharre, D.W., Chang, S.I., Murden, R.A., Lamb, J., Beversdorf, D.Q., Kataki, M., Nagaraja, H.N. and Bornstein, R.A. (2010) Self-administered Gerocognitive Examination (SAGE): a brief cognitive assessment Instrument for mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and early dementia. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders* 24, 64-71.
- Siemers, E. (2011) Designing clinical trials for early (pre-dementia) Alzheimer's disease:
 determining the appropriate population for treatment. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health*& Aging 15, 22-24.
- Solfrizzi, V., Capurso, C., D'Introno, A., Colacicco, A.M., Santamato, A., Ranieri, M., Fiore, P., Capurso, A. and Panza, F. (2008) Lifestyle-related factors in predementia and dementia syndromes. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics* 8, 133-158.

Sperling, R.A., Aisen, P.S., Beckett, L.A., Bennett, D.A., Craft, S., Fagan, A.M., Iwatsubo,

T., Jack, C.R. Jr., Kaye, J., Montine, T.J., Park, D.C., Reiman, E.M., Rowe, C.C., Siemers, E., Stern, Y., Yaffe, K., Carrillo, M.C., Thies, B., Morrison-Bogorad, M., Wagster, M.V. and Phelps, C.H. (2011) Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & dementia* 7, 280-292.

- Stephan, B.C., Hunter, S., Harris, D., Llewellyn, D.J., Siervo, M., Matthews, F.E. and Brayne, C. (2012) The neuropathological profile of mild cognitive impairment (MCI): a systematic review. *Molecular Psychiatry* 17, 1056–1076.
- Stephan, B.C., Matthews, F.E., McKeith, I.G., Bond, J. and Brayne, C. (2007) Early cognitive change in the general population: how do different definitions work? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55, 1534–1540.
- Stephan, B.C., Kurth, T., Matthews, F.E., Brayne, C. and Dufouil, C. (2010) Dementia risk prediction in the population: are screening models accurate? *Nature Reviews Neurology* 6, 318-326.
- Stern, Y., Gurland, B., Tatemichi, T.K., Tang, M.X., Wilder, D. and Mayeux, R. (1994) Influence of education and occupation on the incidence of Alzheimer's disease. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 271, 1004-1010.

- Suzuki, H. (2010) Instruction manual of Japanese version of Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA-J). *The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) Website*.
 Available from URL: http://www.mocatest.org/pdf_files/instructions/MoCA-Instructions-Japanese 2010.pdf (In Japanese).
- Tang, M.X., Cross, P., Andrews, H., Jacobs, D.M., Small, S., Bell, K., Merchant, C., Lantigua, R., Costa, R., Stern, Y. and Mayeux, R. (2001) Incidence of AD in African-Americans, Caribbean Hispanics, and Caucasians in northern Manhattan. *Neurology* 56, 49-56.
- Tariq, S.H., Tumosa, N., Chibnall, J.T., Perry, M.H. 3rd. and Morley, J.E. (2006) Comparison of the Saint Louis University mental status examination and the minimental state examination for detecting dementia and mild neurocognitive disorder-a pilot study. *The American journal of geriatric psychiatry* 14, 900-910.
- Tierney, M.C., Yao, C., Kiss, A. and McDowell, I. (2005) Neuropsychological tests accurately predict incident Alzheimer disease after 5 and 10 years. *Neurology* 64, 1853-1859.
- Tokuhara, K.G., Valcour, V.G., Masaki, K.H. and Blanchette, P.L. (2006) Utility of the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE) for dementia in a Japanese-American population. *Hawaii Medical Journal* 65, 72-75.

- Vercambre, M.N., Cuvelier, H., Gayon, Y.A., Hardy-Léger, I., Berr, C., Trivalle, C., Boutron-Ruault, M.C. and Clavel-Chapelon, F. (2010) Validation study of a French version of the modified telephone interview for cognitive status (F-TICS-m) in elderly women. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 25, 1142-1149.
- Verghese, J., Wang, C., Lipton, R.B. and Holtzer, R. (2013) Motoric cognitive risk syndrome and the risk of dementia. The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 68, 412-418.
- Wang, L., Larson, E.B., Bowen, J.D. and van Belle, G. (2006) Performance-based physical function and future dementia in older people. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 166, 1115-1120.
- Wilkins, C.H., Roe, C.M., Morris, J.C. and Galvin, J.E. (2013) Mild physical impairment predicts future diagnosis of dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 61, 1055-1059.
- Wilson, R.S., Mendes De Leon, C.F., Barnes, L.L., Schneider, J.A., Bienias, J.L., Evans,
 D.A. and Bennett, D.A. (2002) Participation in cognitively stimulating activities and
 risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*287, 742-748.
- Wimo, A., Jönsson, L., Bond, J., Prince, M. and Winblad, B. (2013) The worldwide

economic impact of dementia 2010. Alzheimer's & Dementia 9, 1-11.

- Wimo, A. and Prince, M. (2011) World Alzheimer report 2010: the global economic impact of dementia. Alzheimer's Disease International, London.
- Yamada, M., Mimori, Y., Kasagi, F., Miyachi, T., Ohshita, T. and Sasaki, H. (2009) Incidence and risks of dementia in Japanese women: Radiation Effects Research Foundation Adult Health Study. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 283, 57-61.